No. 46998-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Robert Ford,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-00932-5

The Honorable Judge John R. Hickman

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court violated Mr. Ford's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial by an impartial jury.
2. The trial judge improperly undermined Mr. Ford's due process right to the presumption of innocence.
3. The trial court erred by making Mr. Ford appear particularly dangerous in the eyes of the jury.
4. The court abused its discretion by enacting security measures that made Mr. Ford appear particularly dangerous without considering "specific facts relating to the individual."
5. The court abused its discretion by enacting security measures that made Mr. Ford appear particularly dangerous without making the factual basis clear on the record.

ISSUE 1: A trial court may not adopt security measures that make the accused seem particularly dangerous absent a clear factual basis. Did the court violate Mr. Ford's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury and undermine the presumption of innocence by disallowing his use of a laser pointer and a pencil during his testimony, when all other witnesses were permitted to do so and without conducting any inquiry into his specific circumstances?

6. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Ford of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to a fair trial by an impartial jury.
7. The prosecutor committed misconduct by bolstering the complaining witness's testimony with "facts" not in evidence.
8. The prosecutor committed misconduct by minimizing the state's burden of proof during argument.
9. The prosecutor committed misconduct by mischaracterizing and disparaging Mr. Ford's defense theory during closing.
10. The prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

11. The cumulative effect of the prosecutor's misconduct deprived Mr. Ford of a fair trial.

ISSUE 2: A prosecutor may not bolster a witness's testimony with "facts" not in evidence. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by arguing, absent any evidence, that Joan Searls would have forfeited any legitimate insurance claim had she fabricated additional damage beyond that caused by Mr. Ford?

ISSUE 3: A prosecutor may not minimize the state's burden of proof to the jury. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by telling jurors they could convict if they believed in their hearts, minds, and guts that Mr. Ford was guilty?

ISSUE 4: A prosecutor may not disparage defense counsel or mischaracterize defense argument to the jury. Did the prosecutor at Mr. Ford's trial commit misconduct by paraphrasing his defense as "look over here, not over here because over here is where the evidence lies"?

ISSUE 5: The cumulative effect of repeated prosecutorial misconduct can be so pervasive that it cannot be cured by any instruction. Must Mr. Ford's convictions be reversed, where the prosecutor bolstered the state's evidence with "facts" not in evidence, minimized the state's burden of proof, and disparaged and mischaracterized defense counsel's argument in closing?

12. The state presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Ford of first degree malicious mischief.
13. No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Ford knowingly caused more than \$5,000 worth of damage.

ISSUE 6: A conviction for first-degree malicious mischief requires proof that the accused person "knowingly" caused more than \$5,000 worth of damage. Did the state present insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Ford knew the damage

would rise to that amount, where the investigating officer estimated the amount of damage at \$2,400?

14. Mr. Ford's defense attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by proposing a jury instruction that relieved the state of its burden of proof.
15. The nonstandard instruction proposed by defense counsel minimized the state's burden of proof and deprived Mr. Ford of his Fourteenth Amendment right to the presumption of innocence.

ISSUE 7: Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by proposing a jury instruction that relieves the state of its burden of proof. Did Mr. Ford's attorney provide ineffective assistance by proposing an instruction on the burden of proof that failed to inform jurors that Mr. Ford had no burden of proving the existence of a reasonable doubt?

16. The court erred by adding a point to Mr. Ford's offender score for a Florida conviction that is not comparable to a Washington felony.
17. Mr. Ford's defense attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to raise comparability at sentencing.

ISSUE 8: A prior out-of-state conviction cannot add a point to an offender score at sentencing unless it is legally comparable to a Washington felony. Did the court err by adding a point to Mr. Ford's offender score based on a Florida offense that encompasses activity equivalent to misdemeanor vehicle prowling in Washington?

18. The court exceeded its authority by ordering Mr. Ford to pay over \$33,000 in restitution.
19. The court's restitution order went beyond its statutory authority because it exceeded double the amount of Mr. Ford's gain.

ISSUE 9: The legislature has authorized the court to order restitution as long as it does "not exceed double the amount of the offender's gain or the victim's loss from the commission of

the crime.” Did the court exceed its authority by ordering Mr. Ford to pay restitution in an amount that far exceeded double his gain from the offenses?

20. The court erred by ordering Mr. Ford to pay \$1,800 in legal financial obligations absent any inquiry into whether he had the means to do so.

21. The court erred by entering finding of fact 2.5. CP 126.

ISSUE 10: A court may not order a person to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting an individualized inquiry into his/her means to do so. Did the court err by ordering Mr. Ford to pay \$1,800 in LFOs (over his objection) while also finding him indigent and without analyzing whether he had the money to pay?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

It was Thanksgiving Day. RP 173. Robert Ford needed gas money to drive his family from Ruston to their home in Yakima. RP 333.

He went into the Washing Well Laundromat, pried open the soap dispensing machine, and took out the coins. RR 322. Because he still did not have enough money for gas, he pried off the coin boxes of three laundry machines and took the coins from them as well. RP 322-323.

Joan Searls, the owner of the laundromat, saw Mr. Ford from the video monitor in her adjoining home. RP 175. She went into the business to confront him. RP 176.

Mr. Ford tried to leave once he saw Searls. RP 325. She attempted to block his path on the way out. RP 325. Mr. Ford ran around her, but she grabbed his sweatshirt as he went by. RP 326-27. Searls fell down as Mr. Ford continued to run. RP 327.

Searls told the police that Mr. Ford had pushed her backwards as he was leaving. RP 178. The police only documented mild injuries to the front of her body – a small scrape on her knee and some redness on the front of her shoulder. RP 179; Ex. 21.

The investigating officer noted damage to the soap machine, and saw that three laundry machines had their coin boxes removed. RP 399,

404. He also noted that seven other machines had scratches around the coin slots. RP 393. He did not see any other damage. RP 239.

The officer estimated the amount of damage at \$2,400. RP 240.

Searls reported the incident to her insurance company. RP 247.

When the insurance adjustor first arrived at the laundromat three weeks after the incident, the damage was much worse. RP 345.

Because many of the machines were 40 to 50 years old, they could not be repaired and had to be replaced. RP 187, 192. The repair process also caused additional damage to the laundromat's floors and walls. RP 187, 263; Ex. 17, pp. 11-12. The laundromat was closed for over three months. RP 186. In the end, the insurance company paid Searls over \$33,000 for her claim. RP 259-263.

The state charged Mr. Ford with first degree robbery and first degree malicious mischief. CP 1-2.

At trial, Searls testified that Mr. Ford had damaged twenty-eight machines. RP 194.

The police officer testified regarding his observations from the day of the incident. He told jurors that he saw damage to only ten laundry machines. RP 403. Three machines had their coin boxes removed, and seven others had pry marks. RP 403

Mr. Ford testified at trial. RP 319-347. He admitted that he had caused the damage to the soap machine and stolen the coins out of three laundry machines. RP 322-323. But he said that the damage documented by the insurance adjustor was far worse than that he had caused. RP 328.

Searls's insurance adjustor also testified. RP 246-287. He described the damage that the insurance company paid for. RP 246-287. He did not say anything about what happens when a client reports more damage than was actually caused by a claimable incident. RP 246-287.

The insurance company estimated that Mr. Ford had stolen \$300 from the machines. RP 263.

Throughout the trial, the prosecutor had each state witnesses use a laser pointer to point out portions of projected exhibits. RP 184-185, 249, 252, 254-255, 391, 393-394, 396. He did not request permission from the court before giving the laser pointer to those witnesses. RP 184-185, 249, 252, 254-255, 391, 393-394, 396.

During Mr. Ford's testimony, however, the prosecutor consulted with the court instead of handing the laser pointer to Mr. Ford. RP 339.

The following exchange took place in the presence of the jury:

PROSECUTOR: Can the witness be permitted to have a laser pointer?

COURT: it's up to security.

JAIL: I would prefer not.

COURT: All right.

RP 339.

Instead of the laser pointer, the prosecutor then asked if Mr. Ford could use a pencil or pen to circle portions of an exhibit:

PROSECUTOR: Could the witness be permitted to have a pen or pencil to mark the exhibit with?

COURT: I would allow him to have a pen, not a pencil.

RP 339-340.

At the close of evidence, Mr. Ford's attorney proposed an instruction defining reasonable doubt and outlining the burden of proof. CP 23. The proposed instruction differed from the pattern instruction. CP 23. Defense counsel's proposed instruction did not include the sentence providing that "The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists." CP 23. The court gave an instruction identical to the one defense counsel had proposed. CP 90.

In closing, defense counsel argued that Searls had fabricated additional damage to the laundromat facility to "pad" her insurance claim and replace her aging machines. RP 464-483. He also pointed out that Searls's injuries to the front of her body were not consistent with Mr. Ford pushing her as she faced him. RP 476.

The prosecutor, during rebuttal, paraphrased Mr. Ford's defense theory as:

Look over here, not over here because over here is where the evidence lies. And if you look at that, you might convict the guy, so please look at all these other things over here instead.
RP 485.

Mr. Ford objected to this argument, but the court did not rule on the objection. RP 485.

The prosecutor told the jury that Searls would not have reported more damage to the insurance company than Mr. Ford actually caused because doing so would have jeopardized her valid claim:

She's been damaged. She knows that it can be made whole and fixed. What happens if she screws with that? If she tries to fraudulently do something with the insurance company, what happens? Nothing. Now she's screwed, isn't she? Is she going to put that at risk?
RP 489.

The prosecutor also told jurors not to "get hypertechnical on us" when determining whether the elements of the offenses had been met. RP 490. The prosecutor ended his argument by explaining reasonable doubt as follows: "What I suggest to you is if you believe it in your heart, if you believe it in your mind, if you believe it in your gut, you're convinced beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 492.

The jury convicted Mr. Ford of second degree robbery and first degree malicious mischief. CP 124.

The sentencing court included three out-of-state convictions in its calculation of Mr. Ford's offender score. CP 125. Mr. Ford's attorney

stipulated to his prior criminal record and did not address the comparability of any of those offenses. RP 510-522.

The court ordered Mr. Ford to pay \$1,800 in legal financial obligations (LFOs), including \$1,000 in attorney's fees. CP 126-127. The court also ordered Mr. Ford to pay over \$33,000 in restitution. CP 138-139.

Defense counsel asked the sentencing court to take Mr. Ford's indigency into account in ordering LFOs. RP 515. But the court did not address Mr. Ford's financial circumstances in any way. RP 510-522.

This timely appeal follows. CP 140.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT UNDERMINED THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE AND VIOLATED MR. FORD'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY BY MAKING HIM APPEAR TOO DANGEROUS TO BE TRUSTED WITH A LASER POINTER OR A PENCIL.

Each of the state's three witnesses used the prosecutor's laser pointer throughout their testimony to highlight certain areas of projected exhibits. RP 184-185, 249, 252, 254-255, 391, 393-394, 396. The prosecutor did not ask the court for permission before handing the laser pointer to any of those witnesses. RP 184-185, 249, 252, 254-255, 391, 393-394, 396.

During Mr. Ford’s testimony, however, the prosecutor addressed the situation differently. RP 339. Before letting Mr. Ford use the laser pointer, he asked the court if it was okay. RP 339. The court responded that it was “up to security.” RP 339. The security officer replied “I would prefer not.” RP 339. As a result, the court did not permit Mr. Ford to use the laser pointer. RP 339.

Because he couldn’t use the laser pointer, the prosecutor tried to have Mr. Ford circle a specific part of an exhibit. RP 339. The judge told the prosecutor that he would permit Mr. Ford to use a pen but not a pencil. RP 339-340.

These measures undermined the presumption of innocence. *State v. Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d 857, 860, 233 P.3d 554 (2010). They violated Mr. Ford’s right to a fair trial and to an impartial jury by singling him out among all of the witnesses as particularly dangerous. *Id.*, at 862.

An accused person is entitled to a fair trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22. *State v. Gonzalez*, 129 Wn. App. 895, 900, 120 P.3d 645 (2005). This right includes the right to the presumption of innocence.¹ *Gonzalez*, 129 Wn.

¹ Violations of the right to an impartial jury are reviewed de novo. *Gonzalez*, 129 Wn. App. at 900. Manifest error affecting a constitutional right can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3). To raise a manifest error, an appellant need only make “a plausible showing that the error... had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial.” *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). The showing required under RAP

App. at 900. The constitutional presumption of innocence is the bedrock foundation of any criminal trial. *Id.* (citing *Morissette v. United States*, 342 U.S. 246, 275, 72 S.Ct. 240, 96 L.Ed. 288 (1952)).

It is the court's duty to give effect to the presumption of innocence by "being alert to any factor that could undermine the fairness of the fact-finding process." *Gonzalez*, 129 Wn. App. at 900 (citing *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976)).

Measures suggesting that the accused is particularly dangerous threaten the right to a fair trial. *Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d at 862. Such practices undermine the presumption of innocence and are inherently prejudicial. *Id.*

Whether a courtroom event has negatively affected the presumption of innocence receives "close judicial scrutiny." *Gonzalez*, 129 Wn. App. at 900-01 (citing *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 504; *Estes v. Texas*, 381 U.S. 532, 85 S.Ct. 1628, 14 L.Ed.2d 543 (1965); *In re Murchison*, 349 U.S. 133, 75 S.Ct. 623, 99 L.Ed. 942 (1955)). The analysis looks to "reason, principle, and common human experience." *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 504.

2.5(a)(3) "should not be confused with the requirements for establishing an actual violation of a constitutional right." *Id.* An error has practical and identifiable consequences if "given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010).

Here, the trial court treated Mr. Ford differently than all of the other witnesses. In the jury's presence, the court did not permit Mr. Ford to use a laser pointer despite the fact that every other witness had done so. RP 184-185, 249, 252, 254-255, 339, 391, 393-394, 396.

“Reason, principle, and common human experience” dictate that the jury would have noticed the discrepancy. *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 504. Because the decision to disallow Mr. Ford from using the laser pointer came from the corrections officer, the jury would have understood that it was because the officer and the court considered Mr. Ford to be particularly dangerous when compared to the other witnesses.

The court then exacerbated the problem by ruling that Mr. Ford could not be trusted with a pencil either. RP 339-340.

A trial court may only enact prejudicial security measures upon an accused person at his/her trial when necessary to prevent escape or injury to those in the courtroom. *Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d at 865-66. The court's decision must consider “specific facts relating to the individual” and must be “founded upon a factual basis set forth *in the record*.” *Id.* (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added by the court).

In *Jaime*, the Supreme Court held that the record did not support security measures even when the prosecutor had informed the court that the accused presented both a security concern and an escape risk. *Id.* at

866. This was because the court failed to uphold its duty to conduct its own fact-finding on the issue. *Id.*

Here, there is nothing in the record – not even a bald assertion by the prosecutor – supporting an inference that Mr. Ford was too dangerous to be entrusted with a laser pointer or a pen. The court certainly did not conduct its own fact-finding on the matter or set forth the basis for its ruling on the record. *Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d at 865-66.

The court abused its discretion by enacting security measures that made Mr. Ford appear particularly dangerous without any reason for doing so. *Id.* Reversal is required, and Mr. Ford need not demonstrate prejudice. *Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d at 862.

Still, two key issues for the jury in Mr. Ford's case were (1) whether he had pushed Searls over on purpose or whether she had fallen on accident and (2) whether he was just a petty coin thief or guilty of robbery and felony malicious mischief. The court's actions made him appear far more dangerous than any of the other witnesses, and likely affected the jury's thinking on both of those matters. They also encouraged the jury to consider his testimony in a different light than that of the state's witnesses.

The court undermined the presumption of innocence, and violated Mr. Ford's rights to a fair trial and to an impartial jury by making him

appear particularly dangerous in the jurors' eyes. *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 504; *Jaime*, 168 Wn.2d at 865-66. His convictions must be reversed and his case remanded for a new trial. *Id.*

II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED MR. FORD OF A FAIR TRIAL.

Mr. Ford presented evidence – including officer testimony -- that the damage he caused was much less extensive than that reported by Searls to her insurance company three weeks later. RP 240, 345. In closing, however, the prosecutor characterized his defense theory as asking the jury to “look over here, not over there.” RP 485.

The prosecutor also told jurors that Searls would not fabricate additional damage because then she would lose any valid claim. RP 489. The prosecutor ended his argument by saying “if you believe it in your heart, if you believe it in your mind, if you believe it in your gut, you’re convinced beyond a reasonable doubt.” RP 492

These arguments were improper. They mischaracterized and disparaged the defense theory, bolstered Searls’s testimony with “facts” not in evidence, and minimized the state’s burden of proof. The improper arguments went directly to the key issue– whether evidence that Searls had contrived additional damage raised a reasonable doubt. The misconduct deprived Mr. Ford of a fair trial.

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