NO. 46998-7

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ROBERT EUGENE FORD, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable John Hickman

No. 13-1-00932-5

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
JAMES SCHACHT  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

In this case the instruction at issue was proposed by the defense attorney. It was not the *Castle* instruction. It was a predecessor to the current pattern instruction. 11 Washington Practice, Pattern Jury Instructions (2d edition, 1994), 4.01 (1998 pocket part). The instruction omitted a sentence from first paragraph of the *Bennett*-approved

instruction. That sentence stated directly that the defendant did not bear the burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.

The prosecution in this case proposed no reasonable doubt instruction, much less an alternative to the defense proposal. 4 RP 420-22. Neither party drew the court's attention to the omission of the sentence from the current version of the pattern instruction. *Id.* Neither party objected to the instruction as given. *Id.* The citation at the bottom of the defense proposed inaccurately suggested that it was in fact the current pattern instruction. CP 23. From the lack of discussion or controversy during the instruction conference it may be reasonably inferred either that (1) both parties and the court were unaware that the instruction was not the current pattern jury instruction, or (2) the defense attorney knew the instruction was not current but proposed it anyway and the prosecution and trial court were unaware of the misleading citation.

If the defense attorney proposed a non-**Bennett** instruction on purpose, it can be demonstrated that the instruction suited the defense purposes. The instruction supported the defense theory of the case. The defendant testified. He admitted having caused damage, but not as much as the victim reports [4 RP 328.], and he admitted having stolen money, but denied any physical contact that could support the force element of robbery [4 RP 325-26.]. The missing sentence from the reasonable doubt instruction benefited the defense because the defense theory depended on the defendant's version of events being viewed as credible and the

victim's not. The omission of the sentence specifying that the defendant had no burden was tactically sound.

The defense attorney used the instruction to his advantage. He argued that the defense had proved doubt:

So we've just proven to you that Mrs. Searls' claims of damages and what her grandson said is not supported by the evidence, and we showed you why, that he couldn't -- my client couldn't have damaged those machines in the amount of time that he was there. 5 RP 474.

In an ineffective assistance claim the defendant bears the burden of showing that “no conceivable legitimate tactic” can explain the defense attorney’s decision. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d at 42. Furthermore the defense must show prejudice. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335. Tactics aside, no prejudice can be shown in this case. The defendant was convicted of lesser included second degree robbery. Because no weapon was involved, the only difference between first degree and second degree robbery was bodily injury. It was undisputed that the victim was injured and that the defendant caused the injury (although not in the way the victim described) when he fled from the laundromat with the stolen money. From the lesser included verdict it can be reasonably inferred that the jury was not convinced that the prosecution had sustained its burden of proof as to the injury element in light of the defendant’s testimony. Thus the jury likely concluded that the defendant had proved that a reasonable doubt existed as to the injury element.



If it had been given, the correct pattern instruction arguably would have confused matters. The defense attorney argued, “That’s what the law of robbery is, but I’ve already proven to you from the fact of the injuries that she received and from the amount of things he had in his hand, one, he didn’t have a free hand. And, two, if he did and he didn’t push her, she wouldn’t have obtained the injuries that she had.” 5 RP 478. The defense strategy was to prove that the defendant was credible and the victim was not. The argument depended on the jury believing that the defendant had proved the defendant’s credibility. An instruction telling the jury that the defendant had no burden of proof would have undermined the defense.

Considering the strong presumption that defense counsel operated competently, at least insofar as the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance is concerned, there is no reason to view the non-standard pattern instruction as conclusive proof of ineffective assistance.

5. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT SENTENCING ERROR IN THE CALCULATION OF THE OFFENDER SCORE, IN THE RESTITUTION ORDER, OR IN THE IMPOSITION OF DISCRETIONARY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.

- a. The trial court correctly calculated the defendant's offender score based on the agreement of the parties; any error concerning out of state convictions had no effect on the prison sentence.

The standard for determining a defendant's offender score from out-of-state criminal history begins with a statutory comparability requirement. RCW 9.94A.525(3). "Out-of-state convictions for offenses shall be classified according to the comparable offense definitions and sentences provided by Washington law." *Id.* The State must prove the foreign conviction is comparable to a Washington crime by preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479-80, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). An out-of-state conviction, not proved to have been comparable by a preponderance of the evidence, may not be used to increase the defendant's offender score. *State v. Weiland*, 66 Wn. App. 29, 831 P.2d 749 (1992).

A court's analysis of comparability requires application of a two part test. *State v. Olsen*, 180 Wn.2d 468, 472-73, 325 P.3d 187 (2014), *State v. Thieffault*, 160 Wn.2d 409, 415, 158 P.3d 580 (2007). An out-of-state conviction is equivalent and therefore comparable to a Washington offense if it is either (1) legally comparable, or (2) factually comparable.

*In re Personal Restraint of Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 255-58, 111 P.3d 837 (2005). An offense is legally comparable if, after a comparison of the elements of the out-of-state crime with the elements of the analogous Washington crime, “the foreign conviction is identical to or narrower than the Washington statute, and thus contains all the most serious elements of the Washington statute. . . .” *State v. Olsen*, 180 Wn.2d at 472-73. The comparison must be of the Washington criminal statute in effect at the time the out-of-state crime was committed. *In re Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d at 255, citing *State v. Morley*, 134 Wn.2d 588, 605–06, 952 P.2d 167 (1998).

In this case the defendant challenges the inclusion of a 1987 Florida burglary conviction in his offender score. The prosecution submitted a statement of the defendant’s criminal history, of which the defense said, “The State has provided me with the certified copies of the convictions, Your Honor. His range is what it is, and there’s no dispute of that from everything I’ve seen.” 6 RP 512. It is also important to note that deletion of the Florida burglary and the resulting reduction of the offender score by one point would have had no impact on the defendant’s sentencing range for the more serious of the defendant’s two convictions, the robbery. CP 120-21. Because the court calculated an offender score of ten, one point less would have left the defendant still with an offender score of nine and the same sentencing range. *Id.*

The defense attorney reviewed the prosecution’s evidence supporting the offender score calculation. 6 RP 512. No objection was

interposed as to the Florida burglary. If anything it was acknowledged by both the attorney and the defendant. *See* 6 RP 517. The record is silent as to the exact section of the Florida burglary statute at issue. If there was error, it can be said to have been harmless. Other than commenting in general terms on the defendant's multiple prior convictions in Washington and elsewhere, the trial court did not base its below mid-range sentence in any way on the presence or absence of the Florida burglary. In fact the court sided with the defense as to the total sentence, saying "I happen to agree with Mr. Sepe based on the nature of this particular crime. I think 72 months, 6 years, is more than enough time to figure it out and keep the streets safe, at least for a while, while you're in jail. So I'm going to give you 72 months. I'll give you 57 months on the other count, to run concurrently." 6 RP 519.

Harmless error is established concerning a standard range sentence were the record "clearly indicate[s] that the sentencing court would have imposed the same sentence without the prior unclassified prior convictions and the resultant change in offender score." *State v. McCorkle*, 88 Wn. App. 485, 499-500, 945 P.2d 736(1997) *aff'd*, 137 Wn.2d 490 (1999). *See State v. Cabrera*, 73 Wn. App. 165, 170, 868 P.2d 179 (1994) ("Since the court sentenced [the defendant] near the bottom of what it believed was the correct range, we cannot conclude that it would have chosen a sentence near the top of the range using a lower offender score.").

In this case, review of the sentencing hearing supports the view that the trial judge would have imposed 72 months regardless of whether the offender score was nine or one point above nine. 6 RP 519-20. But if the calculation was error and not harmless error, the trial court's calculation of the offender score should be reversed and this case should be remanded for re-sentencing with an opportunity for the parties to present evidence concerning the Florida burglary conviction. RCW 9.94A.530(2), *State v. Jones*, 182 Wn.2d 1, 9, 338 P.3d 278, 282 (2014).

- b. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by accepting the agreement of the parties as to the amount of restitution and ordering an amount calculated from the victim's actual monetary loss.

A sentencing court has the statutory authority to impose restitution as part of an offender's sentence. RCW 9.94A.753. Review of whether a trial court exceeded its authority is *de novo*, as is interpretation of the restitution statute. *State v. Burns*, 159 Wn. App, 74, 78, 244 P.3d 988 (2010). A trial court has discretion to determine the amount of restitution and its decision will be overturned only if "if the decision is 'manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.'" *State v. Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. 161, 173, 130 P.3d 426 (2006), *affirmed*, 161 Wn.2d 517, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007), citing *State v. Pollard*, 66 Wn. App. 779, 785, 834 P.2d 51 (1992), quoting *State ex rel. Carroll v.*

*Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). “In short, the restitution statute allows the trial court considerable discretion in determining restitution, ‘which ranges from none (in some extraordinary circumstances) up to double the offender’s gain or the victim’s loss.’” . . . Nor does the statute require that “the restitution ordered must be equivalent to the injury, damage or loss, either as a minimum or a maximum.” *State v. Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. at 174 (citation omitted), quoting *State v. Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d 272, 282, 119 P.3d 350 (2005).

The trial court in this case ordered restitution in an amount calculated from the victim’s actual loss. This was with the agreement of the defense. 6 RP 515. *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 154, 110 P.3d 192, 211 (2005) abrogated on other grounds by *Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006) (“To determine the amount of restitution, the trial court can either rely on a defendant’s acknowledgment or it can determine the amount by a preponderance of evidence.”), citing *State v. Hunsicker*, 129 Wn.2d 554, 558–59, 919 P.2d 79 (1996) and *State v. Ryan*, 78 Wn. App. 758, 761, 899 P.2d 825 (1995). There can be no abuse of discretion where the trial court heard the trial testimony and admitted trial exhibits supporting the amount of the loss, especially where the defense had cross examined the witnesses on that very point and expressly agreed with the calculation.

The defendant’s argument depends on the Court’s willingness to graft additional language onto the restitution statute. The defendant

argues that there is a limit on the amount of restitution, namely “the lower of the two amounts must control the court’s restitution order.” Opening Brief, p. 35. The statutory text states simply: “The amount of restitution shall not exceed double the amount of the offender’s gain or the victim’s loss from the commission of the crime.” RCW 9.94A.753(3). It does not add the phrase, “whichever is less” at the end. There is no basis in the statutory text, nor in any case interpreting it for the construction advocated by the defendant.

The interpretation offered by the defendant is absurd. In violent crimes there is often no monetary gain to the offender whereas medical bills and other expenses can be extremely high. If the restitution statute were construed as limited by the defendant’s gain, no restitution could be ordered whatsoever in many such cases. Instead the statute provides for the recovery of “easily ascertainable damages for injury to or loss of property, actual expenses incurred for treatment for injury to persons, and lost wages resulting from injury” and for the court to also take into account “the offender’s gain . . . from the commission of the crime.” RCW 9.94A.753(3). There is a limit on the amount of restitution but it is double the amount of the victim’s loss or the defendant’s gain depending on which basis is used for the calculation.

- c. The trial court conducted an individualized inquiry concerning the defendant's ability to pay non-mandatory legal financial obligations and properly exercised its discretion to impose obligations that will not be burdensome.

When imposing discretionary legal financial obligations (“LFO’s”), a trial court must include in its record “that the trial court made an individualized inquiry into the defendant’s current and future ability to pay. Within this inquiry, the court must also consider important factors . . . such as incarceration and a defendant’s other debts, including restitution, when determining a defendant’s ability to pay.” *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). In making such an individualized determination it is important to bear in mind that “[s]entencing judges have traditionally been given discretion in the sources and types of evidence used for determining a defendant’s sentence.” *State v. Strauss*, 119 Wn.2d 401, 418, 832 P.2d 78 (1992). Moreover, on direct review an “appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court.” *State v. Blazina*, *supra* at 832, quoting RAP 2.5(a).

In most violent crime cases legal financial obligations are the least of the defendant’s concerns at sentencing. That having been said, the trial court in this case actually did make a brief individualized inquiry. The defense attorney advocated for leniency regarding LFO’s when he said, “I would ask that the Court keep it at a bare minimum if possible.” The trial



court appeared to agree. It appeared to decide that the defendant would not have to pay attorney's fees for the trial, but only for pre-trial proceedings: "Mr. Sepe, I really appreciate your civic duty, but the taxpayers deserve to get some reimbursement. For the effort you put into this and the success that you got, I think \$1,000 may cover the preliminary motions, so I'm going to do \$1,000 DAC recoupment and the rest of the legal financial obligations." 6 RP 519.

*Blazina* should not be read, as the defendant would have this Court read it, as mandating a lengthy contested hearing about money at all sentencing hearings. Rather the court should give consideration to the defendant's individual circumstances commensurate with the rest of the issues in the sentencing hearing. *State v. Lyle*, 188 Wn. App. 848, 852, 355 P.3d 327 (2015). In this case the court did so and its decision making should be upheld.

The defendant did not object to the trial court's legal financial ruling. This Court certainly has discretion to review or not review an unpreserved claim of error under RAP 2.5(a). In this case this Court should decline review. It cannot be said that the trial court had no information before it from which an individualized determination could be made. It knew that the defendant was indigent and that he claimed to have committed the crimes to get gas money to travel to Yakima. 4 RP 334. It also knew that the defendant faced several years in prison and from that fact could easily infer that he may have difficulty finding employment

after release. Even with those facts in mind, the trial court could hardly be faulted for believing that the taxpayer's were deserving of minimal reimbursement from the defendant. In the event honest effort does not permit the defendant to succeed in paying, a remission hearing can be scheduled at any time pursuant to RCW 10.01.160(4) to remit all or part of his non-mandatory LFO's.